
 

 

 

13 March 2025 

At 5.00 pm 

 

Central Sydney Planning Committee 
 



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

 
 
1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Confirmation of Minutes 

3.   Matters Arising from the Minutes 

4.   Modification Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2023/724/A 

5.   Development Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2024/816 

6.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 383-395A Kent Street, Sydney - Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment 

 



 

 

 
 

Disclaimer, Terms and Guidelines for 
Speakers at the Central Sydney 

Planning Committee 
As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to 
committee members during Central Sydney Planning Committee meetings about items on the 
agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice, Central Sydney Planning 
Committee meetings are recorded and webcast live on the City of Sydney website at 
www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a Central Sydney Planning Committee meeting may have their 
image, voice and personal information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast 
and archived for up to 12 months.  

Consent  

By attending a Central Sydney Planning Committee meeting, members of the public consent to 
this use of their image, voice and personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a Central Sydney Planning Committee meeting, and which 
may be contained in a live stream or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making 
them, and not of the City. To be clear, unless set out in a resolution of council, the City does not 
endorse or support such statements. 

The City does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals during a 
Central Sydney Planning Committee meeting that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, 
defamatory or offensive comments. Such statements or actions are not protected by privilege and 
may be the subject of legal proceedings and potential liability, for which the City takes no 
responsibility. 

Guidelines  

To enable the committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time 
available, we encourage people interested in speaking at the Central Sydney Planning Committee 
to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9702 or emailing 
secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the committee report before speaking, as it may address 
your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two 
minutes) and prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information 
that the committee may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate 
three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are 
representing. 

At the start of each Central Sydney Planning Committee meeting, the Chair may reorder agenda 
items so that those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

Central Sydney Planning Committee reports are available at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are required 
to disclose and manage both pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

This includes receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

1

Item 1.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are submitted 
for confirmation: 

Meeting of 13 February 2025 

1

Item 2.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Matters arising from the Minutes 

Matters arising from the minutes of the Central Sydney Planning Committee of 13 February 
2025. 

1

Item 3.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Modification Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2023/724/A 

File Number: D/2023/724/A 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 5 February 2025  

Amended plans received 13 February 2025 and 24 
February 2025 

Applicant: Karimbla Properties (No 60) Pty Ltd 

Architect/Designer: Mako Architecture 

Developer: Meriton 

Owner: Karimbla Properties (No 60) Pty Ltd 

Planning Consultant: Meriton 

Cost of Works: $506,521,727.80 

Zoning: MU1 Mixed use zone  

Proposal Summary: Section 4.55(1A) modification to approved concept 
consent (D/2023/724) for building envelopes for a mixed-
use development comprising nine individual development 
blocks ranging in height between one and 25 storeys; 
concept design for public domain works including new 
streets, public open spaces and trunk drainage; and 
indicative land uses including basement car parking, 
storage and services, ground floor retail, commercial uses, 
a centre-based childcare facility, and residential uses 

The application is referred to the CSPC concurrently with 
the detailed design development application for Stage NE 
(D/2024/816) and seeks modifications to ensure the 
detailed design is consistent with the concept consent. The 
proposed modifications relate to Stage NE of the approved 
concept consent and general conditions.  

 

 

1

Item 4.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

The proposed modifications are of minimal environmental 
impact and the proposed modified development remains 
substantially the same as the development to which 
consent was originally granted.  

The application was not notified in accordance with the 
City's Community Participation Plan 2019 being a section 
4.55(1A) application (i.e. involving minimal environmental 
impact).    

Summary Recommendation: The modification application is recommended for approval, 
subject to modified conditions.  

Development Controls: (i) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 and Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulations 2021 

(ii) City of Sydney Act 1988 and City of Sydney 
Regulation 2016 

(iii) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

(iv) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(v) SEPP (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 

(vi) SEPP (Industry and Employment) 2021 

(vii) SEPP (Transport and Infrastructure) 2021 

(viii) SEPP (Biodiversity and Conservation) 2021 

(ix) City of Sydney Interim Floodplain Management 
Policy 2012 

(x) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2015  

(xi) City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program 
2023 

Attachments: A. Recommended Modified Conditions of Consent 

B. Approved Concept Plan Drawings 

C. Modified Concept Plan Drawings  

  

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to section 4.55(1A) application number D/2023/724/A 
subject to the modifications to conditions (2),  

Modifications are shown in bold italics (additions) and strikethrough (deletions).  

(2) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

 (a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No.  
  D/2023/724 dated 17 August 2023 and 6 February 2025 and the following  
  drawings prepared by MAKO Architecture Pty Ltd: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

01100 Rev E Setout - Blocks 23 April 2024 

01110 Rev G Setout – Public Domain 23 April 2024 

03100 Rev G Structure Plan - Staging 23 April 2024 

03101 Rev E Structure Plan – Floor Space 
Allocation 

23 April 2024 

03200 Rev E Structure Plan – Openspace 23 April 2024 

03201 Rev E Structure Plan – Deep Soil 23 April 2024 

04100 Rev E H Setbacks – Gnd Floor 23 April 2024  
24 February 
2025 

04200 Rev E H Setbacks – Typical Floor 23 April 2024  
13 February 
2025 

04700 Rev G J Height of Building - Storeys 26 April 2024  
13 February 
2025  

 and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

 (b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and   
  supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 Reason 

 To ensure all parties are aware of the approved plans and supporting documentation 
 that applies to the development. 

(11)  RESIDENTIAL LAND USE  

 (a) The residential component of the development must be designed to comply be 
  consistent with the principles of Chapter 4 of State Environmental Planning 
  Policy (Housing)  2021, the guidelines of the Apartment Design Guide (the ADG), 
  and the provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, with particular 
  attention to the following matters:   

  (i)  ADG objectives 2F Building separation and 3F-1 Visual privacy; 

  (ii)  ADG objective 4B-1 Natural ventilation;  

  (iii)  ADG objective 4B-3 Natural cross ventilation;  

  (iv)  ADG objective 4J Noise and pollution – with noise and natural ventilation 
   addressed through siting and layout, facade treatment and design and 
   lastly through attenuated passive ventilation devices;  

  (v)  DCP provision 3.2.3 Active frontages – with active frontages to be provided 
   to Epsom Road, Link Road and part of Zetland Avenue and George Julius 
   Avenue. 

  (vi)  DCP provision 3.2.4 Footpath awnings – with a continuous awning to be 
   provided to Epsom Road, Link Road and part of Zetland Avenue and  
   George Julius Avenue. 

  (vi)  A BASIX certificate in accordance with the requirements of State  
   Environmental Planning Policy (Sustainable Buildings) 2022 must be  
   submitted with any subsequent detailed design development application. 

 Reason 

 To identify particular planning requirements pertaining to residential land use for the 
 attention of the architects commissioned to undertake the detailed design of the 
 buildings.  

(21)  LANDSCAPE DESIGN  

 Any future detailed design DA must: 

 (a)  Incorporate a 2m landscape setback to all ground floor residential  
  apartments. This should be provided as deep soil wherever possible.  

 (b) Demonstrate a coordinated approach to mitigating adverse wind conditions that 
  ensures landscape is only used for this purpose where it is practical, feasible, 
  and results in a high-quality design outcome, and that architectural or site  
  planning solutions are used in all other situations. 

 (c)  Demonstrate that 1.5m of clean fill/VENM is available to any landscaped spaces 
  above capped areas of contamination. 

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 Reason 

 To ensure the provision of a high-quality landscape design and outdoor amenity. 

(28) TREES IDENTIFIED FOR REMOVAL  

 (a) For the purposes of the competitive design processes and any subsequent  
  detailed design DA, the trees detailed in the table below are identified for  
  removal. 

 (b) No consent is granted or implied for any tree removal works under this consent. 
  Consent for tree removal must be sought under a subsequent development 
  application. 

Tree Number Species Location 

15,16, 16A, 17A, 17, 26, 28, 29 36, 
36A, 36B, 37 - 80 80A, 80B, 81 and 
82 – 95 

Various species Within the site 

 Reason 

 To identify trees that may be removed subject to any subsequent detailed design 
 development application.  

(29) TREES THAT MUST BE RETAINED  

 (a)  For the purposes of the competitive design processes and any subsequent  
  detailed design DA, the trees detailed in the table below are identified for  
  removal. 

Tree Number Species Location 

1A, 1, 2, 2A, 3, 4, 5, 6, 6A, 7, 8, 9, 9A, 
9B, 9C, 10, 11, 17A, 17, 18A, 18, 19, 
20, 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25. 

Various species Within the site 

 Reason 

 To identify trees that must be retained. 

(35) SIGNAGE STRATEGY 

 A detailed signage strategy must be submitted with any subsequent detailed design
 DA or a condition of consent requiring the submission of a detailed signage 
 strategy is to be imposed on any consent for a subsequent detailed design 
 development application which involves non-residential development. The 
 signage strategy must include information and scale drawings of the location, type, 
 construction, materials  and total number of signs appropriate for the building.  

 

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

         Reason  

 To require signage to be considered as part of any subsequent detailed building 
 design. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposed modified development is substantially the same as the development to 
which development consent D/2023/724 was granted and is consistent with section 
4.55(1A) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.   

(B) The assessment has considered the reasons for approval given by the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee for the grant of the development consent that is proposed to be 
modified in accordance with section 4.55(3) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(C) The proposed modifications to the approved building envelope and applicable 
conditions of consent ensures that the detailed development application for Stage NE 
(D/2024/816) is consistent with the concept approval as required by section 4.24 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(D) The proposed modifications to expand the approved building envelope in select and 
minor locations would not have an unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
surrounding development or public domain area and would remain in keeping with the 
desired future character of the Epsom Park locality.   

(E) The proposed modified building envelope is capable of accommodating a future 
building design which is capable of exhibiting design excellence in accordance with 
Clause 6.21C of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, as demonstrated by the 
concurrent application for Stage NE.  

  

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. The site has a legal description of Lot 2 DP 830870 and Lot 7 DP24134, and is known 
as 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland. The site was previously known as 118-130 
Epsom Road and 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland prior to the consolidation of the 
land, registered on 27 September 2024. It is irregular in shape with an area of 
approximately 40,866sqm.  

2. The site is bound by Zetland Avenue (future road) to the north, Link Road to the east, 
Epsom Road to the south and 112 Epsom Road, 10-12 Leitia Street, 8-12 Peters 
Street and George Julius (future road) to the west.  

3. The site is currently subject to active site preperation. Demolition of the former car 
sales and service centre (Suttons) was undertaken in early 2024 under development 
consent D/2023/720 and remediation of the land and the construction of the internal 
roads and infrastructure commenced in late 2024 under development consent 
D/2023/753. Early works to construct the basement for Stage NE of the development 
commenced in early 2025 under development consent D/2023/844. 

4. The site is located within the Epsom Park locality of the Green Square, a new 
neighbourhood characterised by a mixture of land uses, predominantly residential with 
a variety of commercial or retail, and recreation areas including Gunyama Park Aquatic 
and Recreation Centre. The site is approximately 0.8-1km from Green Square Town 
Centre.    

5. The site is subject to flooding. Street trees line Link Road within the verges.  

6. A site visit was carried out on 9 December 2024. Photos of the site and surrounds are 
provided below:  

 

Figure 1: Aerial view of site and surrounds 

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from Link Road facing north 

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from Link Road facing southwest 

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 

Figure 4: Site viewed from the southern end of Stage NE facing north  

 

Figure 5: Site viewed from the wester end of Stage NE facing northeast 

  

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

Planning Proposal 

7. The following planning proposals are relevant to the current proposal: 

• A planning proposal was gazetted on 3 May 2024 - Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012 (Amendment No. 94). The planning proposal sought to introduce site-
specific provisions in SELP and involved amendments to the site-specific 
provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012.  

• The planning proposal was accompanied by Voluntary Planning Agreement 
(VPA/2022/18) for the installation of dual water reticulation in buildings, a 
minimum 4% non-residential GFA, exceedance of BASIX targets, and provision 
of electric vehicle capable car parking.  

Development Applications 

8. The following development applications are relevant to the current proposal: 

• D/2023/724 – Development consent was granted on 2 July 2024 by the Chief 
Executive Officer under delegation of the Central Sydney Planning Committee, 
subject to deferred commencement, for a concept application for building 
envelopes for a mixed use development comprising nine individual development 
blocks ranging in height between one and 25 storeys; concept design for public 
domain works including new streets, public open spaces and trunk drainage; and 
indicative land uses including basement car parking, storage and services, 
ground floor retail, commercial uses and a centre-based child care facility, and 
residential uses. 

The application was accompanied by Voluntary Planning Agreement 
(VPA/2023/10) for community infrastructure identified in the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 for Epsom Park precinct including roads, Mulgu 
Park, 2 pocket parks, footpath widening along Epsom Road and an extension of 
the Green Square trunk drain.  

This modification application (Mod A) was lodged on 5 February 2024 to modify 
the concept approval concurrently with the assessment of D/2024/816 for Stage 
NE of the development (refer below). 

• D/2023/720 – Development consent was granted on 3 November 2023 under 
delegation for demolition of existing structures to accommodate the future 
development. This consent has been modified once (Mod A). 

• D/2023/753 – Development consent was granted on 5 August 2024 under 
delegation for the construction of roads (kerb-to-kerb), sewer, stormwater, and 
water supply infrastructure, remediation. This consent has been modified once 
(Mod A). 

• D/2024/844 – Development consent was granted on 16 December 2024 under 
delegation for early works including shoring and bulk excavation for 2 - 3 levels 
of basements to facilitate the North-East and part of the South stages of the 
future development.  

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

• D/2024/1029 – A stage 2 detailed development application was lodged on 18 
November 2024 for stage NW comprising 8 new buildings and 3 basement 
levels. The buildings include 3 mixed use buildings (A,B and E) and 5 residential 
buildings (C, D, F, G and H). This application is under assessment concurrently 
and will be reported to the Committee for determination.  

• D/2024/1073 – A development application was lodged on for early works 
including shoring and bulk excavation for 3 levels of basement to facilitate Stage 
NW.  

• D/2024/1055 – A stage 2 development application was lodged on 18 November 
2024 for Stage S comprising 4 new buildings with 3 and 4 basement levels. The 
buildings include 2 mixed use buildings and 2 residential buildings. This 
application is under assessment concurrently and will be reported to the 
Committee for determination. 

• D/2024/1074 – A development application was lodged on for early works 
including shoring and bulk excavation for 3-4 levels of basement to facilitate 
Stage S.  

Amendments 

9. Following a preliminary assessment of the proposed development by Council Officers, 
a request for amendments was sent to the applicant on 10 February 2025. The 
required amendments involved: 

(a) Amended concept plans to correct inconsistencies  

(b) Amended Statement of Environmental Effects 

(c) A digital model  

10. The applicant responded to the request on 13 February 2025 and submitted the 
following information: 

(a) Amended concept plans  

(b) Amended Statement of Environmental Effects  

(c) A digital model  

11. The above was further amended on 24February 2025 to correct minor inconsistencies.  

  

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Proposed Development  

12. The application seeks to modify development consent D/2023/724 by: 

• Modifying the approved building envelope plans to: 

• reduce the ground and above ground level setbacks in part to Defries 
Avenue and Chimes Street 

• reduce the ground level setback to Link Road to delete the requirement for 
a colonnade 

• provide an exemption for basement egresses within the 1.5m setbacks to 
New Street and Chines Street for block NE-3  

• delete the upper-level setback in part to the southern edge of block NE-3 
(townhouses)  

• increase the depth of the townhouse envelopes fronting Defries Avenue, 
New Street, Peters Street and Chimes Street from 12m to 14.6m  

• modify the envelope towards the northeastern corner of the block NE-1 
podium to accommodate a different apartment configuration  

• increase the number of storeys for the southern podium of block NE-1 to 
accommodate a different apartment configuration and rooftop communal 
open space facilities 

• increase the number of storeys for block NE-2 to accommodate rooftop 
communal open space facilities 

• modify the indicative tower floor plate within the approved tower zone 

• Delete condition (11) Residential uses  

• Modify condition (21) Landscape Design by deleting the requirement for a 2m 

landscaped setback for apartments at ground level.  

• Modify conditions (28) Retention of Trees and (29) Removal of Trees to permit 

the removal of trees 17A and 17 located on Link Road to facilitate the 

construction of Zetland Avenue in accordance with the VPA.  

• Modify condition (35) Signage Strategy 

  

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

13. Plans of the proposed modified concept plan are provided below. 

 

Figure 6: Proposed modified "Height of building - storeys" concept plan  

 

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

  

Figure 7: Proposed modified "Setbacks - ground floor" concept plan  

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

 

Figure 8: Proposed modified "Setbacks - typical floor" concept plan  

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act   

14. The development as proposed to be modified has satisfied Section 4.55(1A) of the 
EP&A Act, as below: 

• section 4.55(1A)(a) - the development as proposed to be modified is of a minimal 
environmental impact. 

• section 4.55(1A)(b) - the development as proposed to be modified is 
substantially the same as the concept plan approved by D/2023/724. 

• section 4.55(1A)(c) - the modification application does not require notification 
pursuant to the City of Sydney Community Participation Plan 2019. 

• section 4.55(1A)(d) - accordingly, no submissions were received. 

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

15. The assessment has considered the reasons for approval given by the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee, and adopted by the CEO for the grant of the development 
consent, under delegation, that is proposed to be modified in accordance with section 
4.55(3) of the EP&A Act. 

16. In accordance with section 4.55(3) of the Act, an assessment against the relevant 
provisions of section 4.15(1) of the Act are provided under headings below: 

State Environmental Planning Policies  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Housing) 2021 

Chapter 4 - Design of Residential Apartment Development 

17. The aim of Chapter 4 is to improve the design quality of residential apartment 
development in New South Wales.  

18. A modification application made under section 4.55(1A) of the Act does not require a 
design verification statement by a qualified designer pursuant to section 102 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021.   

19. Accordingly, under section 146 of the Housing SEPP the application is not required to 
be referred to the relevant design review panel (DAP).  

20. Where relevant to the proposed modifications, the design quality principles in 
Schedule 9 to the SEPP have been considered. The proposed modifications would not 
inhibit the attainment of the principles. Specifically, regarding principles 1 context and 
neighbourhood, 2 built form and scale, 3 density and 5 landscaping.   

21. Where relevant to the proposed modifications, the associated Apartment Design Guide 
(ADG) has been considered. A assessment against the relevant provisions of the ADG 
have been provided below where the provisions relate to the proposed modifications.  

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to 4 storeys (approximately 
12m): 

• 12m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

• 9m between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms 

• 6m between non-
habitable rooms 

Yes The proposed modification to reduce the 
Defries Avenue setback at the western 
end of building NE-2 from 1.5m to nil 
would still allow compliance with the 
building separation provisions to the 
adjoining development (block NW-2) 
given the width of the road.  

The proposed modifications to the 
podium envelope of block NE-1 retains a 
configuration that is capable of achieving 
the required building separation 
requirements through the design and 
layout of apartments.  

Five to eight storeys 
(approximately 25m): 

Yes 

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

• 18m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

• 12m between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms 

• 9m between non-
habitable rooms 

 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to 4 storeys (12m): 

• 6m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

• 3m between non-
habitable rooms 

Yes As above, the proposed modification to 
reduce the Defries Avenue setback at 
the western end of building NE-2 from 
1.5m to nil would still allow compliance 
with the visual privacy provisions to the 
adjoining development (block NW-2) 
given the width of the road. 

The proposed modifications to the 
podium envelope of block NE-1 retains a 
configuration that is capable of achieving 
the required visual privacy requirements 
through the design and layout of 
apartments. 

Five to eight storeys (25m): 

• 9m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

• 4.5m between non-
habitable rooms 

Yes 

Local Environmental Plans 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

22. An assessment of the proposed development against the relevant provisions of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 is provided in the following sections.  

Part 2 Permitted or prohibited development  

Provision  Compliance Comment 

2.3 Zone objectives and Land 
Use Table 

Yes The site is zoned MU1 mixed use. There 
are no changes proposed to the 
approved uses.  

The development as proposed to be 
modified remains consistent with the 
objectives of the zone.  

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Part 4 Principal development standards 

Provision  Compliance  Comment  

4.3 Height of buildings N/A The site is subject to the site-specific 
provisions in clause 6.60J Mulgu 
Precinct in SLEP which includes an 
Alternative Height of Buildings map.  

4.4 Floor space ratio Yes There is no change proposed to the 
approved floor space ratio.  

Part 5 Miscellaneous provisions 

Provision Compliance Comment 

5.21 Flood planning Yes The proposed modifications are minor in 
nature and would not affect flood 
behaviour.   

Part 6 Local provisions – height and floor space 

Provision  Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence 

6.21 Design excellence Yes The proposed modified concept plan 

remains capable of exhibiting design 

excellence in accordance with the 

objective and matters for consideration 

in clause 6.21C of SLEP as 

demonstrated by the detailed 

development application (D/2024/816), 

considered concurrently. 

Division 5 Site specific provisions 

6.60J Mulgu Precinct  Yes The site is subject to the Alternative 
Height of Buildings map in Section 
6.60J(4) Mulgu Precinct in SLEP.  

Relevantly to Stage NE where the 
proposed modifications are located, the 
following height limits apply:  

• L - 11m  

• U2 - 33m 

• AB3 - 90m  

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Provision  Compliance Comment 

 

Figure 9: extract from Alternative Height 
of Buildings map 

The proposed building envelope 
modifications relate to the areas subject 
to an 11m (blocks TH-1 and TH-2) 
height control and a 33m (blocks NE-1 
podium and NE-2) height control. 

The proposed modifications to the 
envelopes are within the maximum 
permitted heights.    

Part 7 Local provisions – general 

Provision  Compliance Comment 

7.20 Development requiring or 

authorising preparation of a 

development control plan 

Yes The approved concept plan satisfies this 

provision by virtue of section 4.32 of the 

Act. The proposed modifications to the 

concept plan adequately address the 

matters for consideration specified in 

this clause with respect to height, bulk, 

massing, streetscape and environmental 

impacts.  

 

  

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Development Control Plans 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

23. An assessment of the proposed development against the relevant provisions within the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 is provided in the following sections.  

24. The proposed modifications result in some non-compliances with the provisions in 
Section 3 General provisions, Section 4 Development types and Section 5 Specific 
Areas of the DCP which are discussed in detail under the 'discussion' heading below.  

Discussion  

Concept Envelope  

25. Various minor modifications are proposed to the approved concept envelope to 
accommodate the proposed detailed development lodged under development 
application D/2024/816, considered concurrently.  

26. The proposed nil setback to the ground and above ground levels at the western end of 
building NE-2 fronting Defries Avenue varies the setback shown on the Alternative 
Building Setbacks map (Figure 5.3.6-3) in section 5.3.6.4 of the DCP.  

27. As demonstrated by the detailed design application (D/2024/816), the proposed 
modification to the setback is considered acceptable and accommodates only a corner 
of the building, generally being of an open design where balconies are located. The 
variation would not have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the development or 
the desired future character of the area.     

28. The proposed nil setback to the ground and above ground levels at the southwestern 
corner of building NE-1 fronting Chimes Street Avenue varies the setback shown on 
the Alternative Building Setbacks map (Figure 5.3.6-3) in section 5.3.6.4 of the DCP.  

29. As demonstrated by the detailed design application (D/2024/816), the proposed 
modification to the setback is acceptable and accommodates southwestern corner of 
the supermarket and residential podium above. The proposed variation allows the 
retail to front and address the street. Solar access to Mulgu Park is also sufficiently 
retained.  

30. The proposed modifications to the height in storeys plan for block NE-1 and NE-2 
facilitate the provisions of rooftop communal open space facilities where these 
constitute a storey. The additional height complies with the maximum permitted LEP 
heights. The proposed variation is supported given facilities are required to support the 
use and functionality of the communal open space areas.   

31. The proposed modification to the height in storeys plan for the block NE-1 tower 
reflects the ground and lower levels within the podium where multiple storeys sleave 
the double height retail and services areas behind. There is no change to the overall 
height of the tower envelope in terms of the maximum RL.  

32. There is also a change to the number of storeys from 7 to 8 storeys along the Chimes 
Street frontage where the ground and first floor level apartments sleave the double 
height retail space to the rear. There is no change to the overall height of the podium.   

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

33. The proposed modification to delete the upper-level setback in part to the southern 
side of block NE-3 fronting Peters Street has the potential to impact the developments 
compliance with the sunlight provisions to ensure solar access to Mulgu Park.  

34. A solar isolation study has been provided demonstrating compliance with this provision 
notwithstanding the proposed modification and therefore the modification is supported.   

Residential Land Uses  

35. The proposed deletion of condition (11) as the intent of the condition is to highlight 
specific provisions of the ADG and DCP that the detailed design development 
applications are required to address. Notwithstanding, the ADG and DCP are required 
to be applied flexibly. It is therefore recommended that the wording of the conditions 
be modified to required the development to be 'consistent with' rather than to 'comply 
with' the ADG and DCP to ensure that sufficient clarity is provided that the provisions 
of the ADG and DCP may still be applied flexibly where a merit-based assessment 
demonstrates that strict compliance is not necessary to achieve the intent of the 
control, as demonstrated through the assessment of the accompanying detailed 
design development application for Stage NE (D/2024/816).  

Tree Removal  

36. The proposed modifications to conditions (28) and (29) allow the removal of trees 17A 
and 17 located within the Link Road verge and are necessary in order to construct the 
intersection where Zetland Avenue joins Link Road. Zetland Avenue is required to be 
constructed in accordance with the planning agreement (VPA/2023/10). The location 
and design of this intersection is consistent with the Alternative Public Domain 118-130 
Epsom Road and 906 South Dowling Street, Zetland map in the Section 5 of the DCP 
and Epsom Park Precinct Public Domain Concept Plan - Annexure F to the VPA.  

37. The proposed tree removal is therefore required and is supported. New street trees 
are to be provided in accordance with the Public Domain Plan conditions 
recommended to be imposed under the detailed development application D/2024/816.  

Consultation 

Internal Referrals 

38. The application was discussed with Council’s; 

(a) Landscape; 

(b) Tree Management; and 

(c) Urban Design;  

39. Theese teamsadvised that the proposal is acceptable.  

External Referrals 

40. Referrals to external agencies were not required given the minor nature of the 
proposed modifications.   

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Advertising and Notification 

41. The proposed modification was not notified in accordance with the City of Sydney 
Community Participation Plan 2019. No submissions were received. 

Financial Contributions 

Contribution under Section 7.11 of the EP&A Act 1979  

42. The City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 applies to the site. The 
development is subject to a section 7.11 local infrastructure contribution under this 
Plan.   

43. Contributions will be applicable for all subsequent detailed design development 
applications.  

Contribution under Section 7.13 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

44. The site is located within the Green Square affordable housing contribution area. 
Contributions will be applicable for all subsequent detailed design development 
applications. 

Housing and Productivity Contribution   

45. The development is subject to a Housing and Productivity Contribution (Base 
component) under the Environmental Planning and Assessment (Housing and 
Productivity Contribution) Order 2023.  

46. The site is located with the Greater Sydney region, the development is a type of 
residential and commercial development to which the Housing and Productivity 
Contribution applies, and the development is not of a type that is exempt from paying a 
contribution.  

47. Contributions will be applicable for all subsequent detailed design development 
applications.  

Relevant Legislation 

48. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

  

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 March 2025 
 

Conclusion 

49. The proposed modification application is recommended for approval. The proposed 
modifications are required to accommodate the modifications to the concept plan 
caused by the detailed design for Stage NE which have arisen through the competitive 
design process and preparation and assessment of the detailed design development 
application.  

50. The proposed modifications are of minimal environmental impact and the proposed 
modified development remains substantially the same as the development to which 
consent was originally granted.  

51. The proposed modifications would not result in any significant impacts to the amenity 
of the development, surrounding development, or the existing or future public domain. 
The proposed modified building envelopes would facilitate a development that would 
be consistent with the desired future character of the Epsom Park neighbourhood as 
demonstrated through the assessment of the accompanying detailed design 
development application for Stage NE (D/2024/816).    

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Chief Planner / Executive Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Michael Stephens, Senior Planner  

23



Attachment A 

Recommended Modified Conditions of 

Consent

24



SCHEDULE 1 

PART A – DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

The following deferred commencement conditions must be satisfied prior to the consent 
becoming operative: 

(A) PART A – DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

(CONDITIONS TO BE SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING) 

The consent is not to operate until the following condition is satisfied, within 24 
months of the date of this determination: 

(1) VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

(a) The infrastructure Voluntary Planning Agreement between the 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SYDNEY and Karimbla Properties 
(No.60) Pty Ltd shall be exhibited, executed and submitted to Council; 
and 

(b) The Voluntary Planning Agreement, as executed, must be registered 
on the title of the land. 

(2) Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those 
matters identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, 
must be submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of determination 
of this deferred commencement consent failing which, this deferred 
development consent will lapse pursuant to section 4.53(6) of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.   

(3) The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the 
Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions, as 
indicated above, have been satisfied.   

(4) Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred 
commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become 
operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the conditions of 
consent, as detailed in Part B Conditions of Consent (Once the Consent is 
Operational). 

 

25



PART A1 – CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

(1) CONCEPT DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

Pursuant to Division 4.22 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 
1979, this Notice of Determination relates to a concept development 
application. A subsequent development application (DA) is required for any 
works to be carried out on the site.  

Reason  

To specify the status of this approval as a concept development consent and 
that it does not authorise the carrying out of works on any part of the site. 

(2) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2023/724 dated 17 August 2023 and 6 February 2025 the following 
drawings prepared by MAKO Architecture Pty Ltd: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

01100 Rev E Setout - Blocks 23 April 2024 

01110 Rev G Setout – Public Domain 23 April 2024 

03100 Rev G Structure Plan - Staging 23 April 2024 

03101 Rev E Structure Plan – Floor Space 
Allocation 

23 April 2024 

03200 Rev E Structure Plan – Openspace 23 April 2024 

03201 Rev E Structure Plan – Deep Soil 23 April 2024 

04100 Rev E H Setbacks – Gnd Floor 23 April 2024   
24 February 
2025 

04200 Rev E H Setbacks – Typical Floor 23 April 2024     
13 February 
2025 

04700 Rev G J Height of Building - Storeys 26 April 2024   
13 February 
2025 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

26



(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

Reason 

To ensure all parties are aware of the approved plans and supporting 
documentation that applies to the development. 

(3) MATTERS NOT APPROVED 

The following items are not approved and do not form part of this concept 
development consent: 

(a) any demolition, tree removal, excavation, remediation and/or 
construction; 

(b) the height in storeys or street frontage height in storeys of the 
development; 

(c) the layout and number of residential apartments or non-residential 
tenancies; 

(d) the depth, extent, number, layout and design of basement levels and/or 
configuration of car parking; 

(e) the number of car parking spaces, bicycle spaces, car share or loading 
spaces/zones; 

(f) the precise quantum of floor space; and 

(g) up to 10% design excellence uplift in floor space. 

(4) COMPLIANCE WITH VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

The terms of the planning agreement entered into in accordance with Deferred 
Commencement Condition 1 are to be complied with. 

Reason 

To ensure the development complies with all terms of the planning agreement. 

(5) BUILDING HEIGHT 

(a) Building height proposed as part of any subsequent DA for the detailed 
design of the building must not exceed the heights expressed as RLs 
(AHD) shown on drawings listed in the APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 
condition above.  

(b) To be clear, this condition does not restrict development comprising 
building height: 

(i) proposed or erected by or on behalf of a public authority on land 
identified in the Voluntary Planning Agreement for transfer (and/or 
dedication) for the purpose of public amenities such as street 
furniture, street lighting, landscape structures or the like;  

27



(ii) located in the ground level common open space areas for the 
purpose of landscape structures and communal facilities that do 
not comprise floor space (or GFA) and do not compromise deep 
soil provision. 

Reason 

To ensure the constructed development complies with the approved height. 

(6) FLOOR SPACE RATIO 

The following applies to Floor Space Ratio (FSR): 

(a) The Floor Space Ratio (FSR) of development contained within the site 
must not exceed the maximum permitted FSR calculated in accordance 
with the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(b) A maximum GFA of 81,700sqm is approved, which is to be apportioned 
to the approved development stages in accordance with the following 
table: 

Development 
Stage 

Total GFA Residential 
GFA 

Non-Residential 
GFA 

Northeast 34,250sqm 31,928sqm 2,322sqm 

Northwest 25,550sqm 24,693sqm 857sqm 

South 21,900sqm 20,527sqm 1,373sqm 

 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the development stages in a competitive 
process phase may be eligible up to 10% additional floor space pursuant 
to the provisions of Clause 6.21D(3) of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012 if the consent authority is satisfied that subsequent 
development application(s) for the detailed design of the buildings exhibit 
design excellence and is the result of a competitive design process. 

(d) Each competitive process phase will be only eligible for a maximum of 
an additional 10% of the floorspace apportioned to it. Additional floor 
space is not transferrable between Competitive Process Site. If a 
Competitive Process Site is not able to accommodate the full amount of 
additional floor space apportioned to it, the remaining balance of 
additional floor space cannot be transferred to another development lot 
set out in (a) (b). 

Reason 

To specify the relevant floor space ratio controls applicable to the 
development. 

  

28



(7) DISTRIBUTION OF FLOOR SPACE WITHIN ENVELOPES 

The approved concept proposal envelopes establish the maximum parameters 
for the competitive design process and the future built form on the site. The 
detailed design of buildings must not occupy the entirety of the envelopes. The 
maximum permissible floor space of any subsequent detailed design 
development application must be consistent with the relevant provisions of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, the Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 and the conditions of this development consent.  

Reason  

To specify the relevant parameters for the detailed building design. 

(8) DEVELOPMENT TO BE CONTAINED WITHIN ENVELOPES 

The detailed design of the buildings must be contained within the approved 
envelopes except for footpath awnings and/or projections beyond private 
property boundaries over or into the public road/footpath in accordance with 
the requirements of Schedule 4 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012.  

Reason  

To ensure that the detailed building design is not inconsistent with the 
approved concept envelope. 

(9) COMPETITIVE DESIGN PROCESS 

A competitive design process shall be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and: 

(a) In accordance with the ‘Design Excellence Strategy’ prepared by Meriton 
Property Services Pty Ltd and Karimbla Constructions Services (NSW) 
Pty Ltd dated 8 April 2024; and 

(b) Prior to the lodgement of any subsequent development application(s) for 
the detailed design of the buildings. 

The detailed design of the buildings must exhibit design excellence in 
accordance with Clause 6.21C of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

Reason 

To specify the approved Design Excellence Strategy for the development. 

(10) DETAILED DESIGN OF BUILDINGS 

The building design submitted as part of any subsequent DA for the detailed 
design of the building, must address the following design requirements: 

  

29



(a) Building forms are to be appropriately modulated and articulated to 
maximise the available winter solar access to adjoining residential 
developments and residential development within the site. Tower forms 
should seek to optimise the number of apartments receiving winter 
sunlight to habitable rooms, primary windows and private open spaces 
with external shading from summer sunlight. 

(b) Any design for a tall building (>35m in height) is to be vertically 
proportioned in height, form and articulation. 

(c) The design of Block S4 is to incorporate a non-habitable interface to its 
western interface above four storeys to maintain privacy for residents at 
10-12 Letitia Street.  

(d) The design of the south-eastern extent of Block NW-2 is to incorporate 
visual privacy measures to maintain privacy for residents at 8-12 Peters 
Street.  

(e) The floorplates of the towers are not to exceed: 

(i) Tower A – 850sqm 

(ii) Tower B – 750sqm 

(iii) Tower C – 550sqm 

Note, the definition of floorplate includes external walls, all space 
bounded by external walls, balconies and external gallery access 
(measured to the outside face of balustrades) and excludes sun-shading 
elements and vertical fin projections. 

Reason 

To identify particular planning requirements for the attention of the architects 
commissioned to undertake the detailed design of the buildings.  

(11) RESIDENTIAL LAND USE 

(a) The residential component of the development must be designed to 
comply be consistent with the principles of Chapter 4 of State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Housing) 2021, the guidelines of the 
Apartment Design Guide (the ADG), and the provisions of the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012, with particular attention to the following 
matters:   

(i) ADG objectives 2F Building separation and 3F-1 Visual privacy; 

(ii) ADG objective 4B-1 Natural ventilation;  

(iii) ADG objective 4B-3 Natural cross ventilation;  

(iv) ADG objective 4J Noise and pollution – with noise and natural 
ventilation addressed through siting and layout, facade treatment 
and design and lastly through attenuated passive ventilation 
devices;  

30



(v) DCP provision 3.2.3 Active frontages – with active frontages to be 
provided to Epsom Road, Link Road and part of Zetland Avenue 
and George Julius Avenue. 

(vi) DCP provision 3.2.4 Footpath awnings – with a continuous awning 
to be provided to Epsom Road, Link Road and part of Zetland 
Avenue and George Julius Avenue. 

(b) A BASIX certificate in accordance with the requirements of State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Sustainable Buildings) 2022 must be 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design development application. 

Reason 

To identify particular planning requirements pertaining to residential land 
use for the attention of the architects commissioned to undertake the 
detailed design of the buildings.  

(12) PRELIMINARY LOADING AND SERVICING MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A preliminary Loading and Servicing Management Plan (LSMP) must be 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design DA. The Plan must include (but 
is not limited to) how the following matters are addressed: 

(a) Service vehicle (including a 10.6m Council waste vehicle) access the 
loading areas; 

(b) Demonstrate that the largest service vehicle can enter and exit the site 
in a forward direction; 

(c) Demonstrate that servicing demands on site can be satisfied at each 
stage of the development; 

(d) Details of anticipated service vehicle movements during the day for all 
tenants of the site; 

(e) Management of conflicts between cars accessing the residential and 
non-residential car parking areas and vehicle movements to and from 
the loading dock;  

(f) Management of conflicts between heavy vehicles accessing the site and 
pedestrian movements; and 

(g) Management of deliveries to ensure vehicles are not waiting on public 
streets to enter the site. 

Reason 

To ensure loading and servicing is managed appropriately. 

(13) SECURITY GATES  

If any detailed building design submitted as part of any subsequent DA 
incorporates a car park accessed by a security gate, then that gate must be 
located at least 6 metres within the site from the property boundary with the 
street.  

31



Reason  

To ensure any subsequent detailed building design provides adequate space 
between security gates and the street. 

(14) PARKING DESIGN 

The design, layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all 
off-street parking facilities must comply with the minimum requirements of 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car 
parking, AS/NZS 2890.2 Parking facilities Part 2: Off-commercial vehicle 
facilities and AS/NZS 2890.6 Parking facilities Part 6: Off-street parking for 
people with disabilities.  

Reason 

To ensure parking facilities are designed in accordance with the Australian 
Standards. 

(15) BICYCLE AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES 

(a) The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facilities 
to be provided within the site boundary for the development should be in 
accordance with the rates specified at Section 3.11.3 of the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012. 

(b) All bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facility must be provided on 
private land. The public domain cannot be used to satisfy this condition. 

Notes: 

(i) If a basement storage area on title that is large enough to store a 
bike and is no smaller than a class 1 bike locker this can be 
counted as a space. 

(c) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with the 
minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS 2890.3 Parking 
Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities.  

Reason 

To ensure a compliant quantum of bicycle and end of trip facilities are 
provided. 

(16) VEHICLE ACCESS 

The detailed building design must allow for all vehicles to enter and depart the 
site in a forward direction.  

Reason  

To optimise traffic and pedestrian safety on and around the site. 

32



(17) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION 

The detailed building design must provide for all loading, unloading and 
servicing operations to be carried out within the confines of the site and so 
there is no obstruction of other properties/units or the public way. 

Reason 

To ensure any subsequent detailed design for the building is able to 
accommodate all loading activities within the site. 

(18) WASTE INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICING 

(a) Each stage of the development should be designed to allow for 
independent residential waste servicing.  

(b) Any subsequent detailed design DA must incorporate waste 
management facilities, vehicle access and loading in accordance with 
the relevant requirements of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
and the City’s Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments. 
The architectural drawings and Waste Management Plan must address 
the following requirements including but not limited to:  

(i) Waste management and collection must be accommodated wholly 
within the buildings on the site with the exception of block S3;  

(ii) Access for a 10.6m Council waste collection vehicle and vertical 
clearance of 4 metres clear of all ducts, pipes and other services;  

(iii) Waste collection vehicles to be able to enter and exit the premises 
in a forward direction; and 

(iv) Waste management infrastructure and storage areas designed in 
accordance with the provisions specified in the City’s Guidelines 
for Waste Management in New Developments. 

Reason 

To permit safe and efficient scheduled residential waste collection activities. 

(19) ACOUSTIC REPORT 

An Acoustic Impact Assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
acoustic consultant and submitted with any subsequent detailed design DA in 
accordance with the provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, the NSW Government's 
Development near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads - Interim Guideline and the 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Transport and Infrastructure) 2021. 

Reason  

To specify that an acoustic report must be submitted as part of any subsequent 
detailed design development application. 

33

https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2021-0732


(20) DEEP SOIL 

Deep soil must be provided within each development stage as per the 
approved stamped plan titled Structure Plan – Deep Soil, drawing number 
03201 Revision E (dated 23 April 2024) as follows: 

(a) Northeast Stage: 527sqm 

(b) Southern Stage: 3,541sqm 

(c) Northwestern Stage: 1,018sqm 

All deep soil areas should be designed to incorporate only permeable surfaces, 
maximise canopy trees and other planting, and be designed in accordance 
with the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and the Sydney Landscape 
Code Volume 2. 

Reason 

To ensure adequate deep soil is allowed for in the development. 

(21) LANDSCAPE DESIGN 

Any future detailed design DA must: 

(a) Incorporate a 2m landscape setback to all ground floor residential 
apartments. This should be provided as deep soil wherever 
possible. 

(b) Demonstrate a coordinated approach to mitigating adverse wind 
conditions that ensures landscape is only used for this purpose where it 
is practical, feasible, and results in a high-quality design outcome, and 
that architectural or site planning solutions are used in all other 
situations. 

(c) Demonstrate that 1.5m of clean fill/VENM is available to any landscaped 
spaces above capped areas of contamination. 

Reason 

To ensure the provision of a high-quality landscape design and outdoor 
amenity. 

(22) LAND CONTAMINATION 

(a) Any subsequent DA for the detailed design of the building must include 
reports and documentation to address the requirements of State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 – Chapter 
4 Remediation of Land. 

(b) The relevant reports and documentation may include but are not limited 
to the following: 

(i) Epsom and Link Rd, Zetland Site – Framework Remedial Action 
Plan prepared by Ramboll dated 15 March 2022. 

34



(ii) Endorsement of Data Gap Investigation, 118-130 Epsom Road & 
905 Link Road, Zetland NSW prepared by Geosyntec Consultants 
dated 25 March 2022. 

(iii) Data Gap Investigation – 118-130 Epsom Road & 905 Link Road, 
Zetland NSW 2017 (Version 2) prepared by Trinitas dated 3 April 
2024. 

(iv) Interim Advice IA05: Endorsement of Data Gap Investigation, 118-
130 Epsom Road & 905 Link Road, Zetland NSW prepared by 
Geosyntec Consultants dated 4 April 2024. 

Reason 

To advise as to the documentation to be provided as part of any subsequent 
DA for the detailed design of the building to demonstrate site suitability. 

(23) LAND DEDICATION – NO LONG-TERM ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Any land that is to be dedicated to the City under the planning agreement 
entered into in accordance with the VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 
condition contained in the Deferred Commencement Conditions at Part A of 
this consent, must not be encumbered by an Environmental Management Plan 
or Long-Term Environmental Management Plan. 

Reason 

To ensure future public land is not encumbered by onerous ongoing land 
contamination management requirements. 

(24) WIND ASSESSMENT 

(a) Prior to the lodgement of any subsequent detailed DA, the design must 
be subject to wind tunnel testing to ascertain the impacts of the 
development on the wind environment and conditions within the publicly 
accessible pedestrian space, the surrounding streets, neighbouring 
buildings, and communal external areas and private open space areas 
within the subject development. 

(b) Any recommendations of this wind tunnel testing and wind assessment 
report required by (a) above must be incorporated into and submitted 
with any detailed design DA. 

Reason 

To specify the matters that have been identified through the concept 
development application assessment as requiring further resolution through 
the detailed design development stages. 

(25) COMMUNAL OPEN SPACE 

Any subsequent detailed design DA involving the development of a residential 
flat building or mixed-use building is required to provide an area equal to 25% 
of the development block site area as communal open space. 

35



Reason 

To ensure an adequate area of communal open space is provided to enhance 
residential amenity and to provide opportunities for landscaping.  

(26) ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

Details are to be provided with any subsequent detailed design DA to confirm 
that the building/s has adopted the following ecologically sustainable 
development (ESD) targets: 

(a) Energy 

(i) Low Rise (3 Storey Multi-Units): 67 

(ii) High Rise (6-20 Storey Multi Units): 60 

(iii) High Rise (20 Storey Multi Units): 63 

(b) Water  

(i) 40 

(c) Thermal Loads: 

(i) Low Rise (3 Storey Multi Units) 

Maximum Allowable Thermal Loads 

(MJ/m2/year) 

Individual 

Dwellings 

Average of all 

Dwellings 

Heating 32.9 29.7 

Cooling 20.4 21.2 

 

(ii) High Rise (6-20 Storey Multi Units) & High Rise (20 Storey Multi 
Units and Higher) 

Maximum Allowable Thermal Loads 

(MJ/m2/year) 

Individual 

Dwellings 

Average of all 

Dwellings 

Total 38 30 

Heating 34.4 28.1 

Cooling 21.4 20 

 

  

36



In the case of an inconsistency between the above Environmental 
Performance targets and the new State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Sustainable Buildings) 2022 (Sustainable Buildings SEPP), the Sustainable 
Buildings SEPP prevails. 

The ESD targets are to be included in the competitive design process brief and 
carried through the competition phase, design development, construction, and 
through to completion of the project. 

Reason 

To specify the ESD target benchmarks for the development.  

(27) PUBLIC ART 

(a) The Public Art Strategy prepared by Aileen Sage dated 19 December 
2023 (Council reference TRIM 2023/731918) must be included as an 
appendix to any competitive design process brief as per Section 3.3.7 of 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(b) A Detailed Public Art Plan, based upon the preliminary plan referred to 
in (a) above, must be prepared and submitted with any subsequent 
detailed design DA. 

(c) All public artworks must be in accordance with the relevant objectives 
and provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, the Public 
Art Policy, and the Interim Guidelines: Public art in private developments. 

Note: Public Art must be reviewed and endorsed by the City’s Public Art Team 
and/or the Public Art Advisory Panel prior to submission for Council approval. 
Further information is available online at 

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/explore/arts-and-culture/public-art.  

Please contact the Public Art Team for further information at: 

publicartreferrals@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

Reason 

To ensure public art is installed to the City’s satisfaction. 

(28) TREES IDENTIFIED FOR REMOVAL 

(a) For the purposes of the competitive design processes and any 
subsequent detailed design DA, the trees detailed in the table below are 
identified for removal. 

(b) No consent is granted or implied for any tree removal works under this 
consent. Consent for tree removal must be sought under a subsequent 
development application. 

  

37

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/explore/arts-and-culture/public-art
mailto:publicartreferrals@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


Tree Number Species Location 

15,16, 16A, 17A, 17, 26, 28, 29 36, 
36A, 36B, 37 - 80 80A, 80B, 81 and 
82 – 95 

Various species Within the site 

 

Reason 

To identify trees that may be removed subject to any subsequent detailed 
design development application.  

(29) TREES THAT MUST BE RETAINED 

(a) For the purposes of the competitive design processes and any 
subsequent detailed design DA, the trees detailed in the table below are 
identified for retention. 

Tree Number Species Location 

1A, 1, 2, 2A, 3, 4, 5, 6, 6A, 7, 8, 9, 9A, 
9B, 9C, 10, 11, 17A, 17, 18A, 18, 19, 
20, 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25. 

Various species Within the site 

 

Reason 

To identify trees that must be retained. 

(30) STREET TREES AND DETAILED DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 
APPLICATIONS 

(a) All street trees surrounding the site must be included for retention in any 
subsequent detailed design DA.  

(b) Any design elements (awnings, street furniture, footpath upgrades etc) 
within the public domain must ensure appropriate setbacks are provided 
from the street tree to allow maturity of the tree to be achieved.  

(c) The location of any new driveways must not require the removal of any 
existing street trees. The driveway must be appropriately set back so it 
does not have adverse impacts both below and above ground upon any 
existing street trees. 

Reason  

To specify that retention of street trees is to be considered during design 
development. 

  

38



(31) TREE INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR ANY FUTURE DETAILED DESIGN 
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

(a) An Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report (AIAR) must be submitted 
with any subsequent detailed design DA. The report must be prepared 
by a qualified Arborist with a minimum Australian Qualification 
Framework (AQF) of Level 5 in Arboriculture, and written in accordance 
with the Australian Standard AS 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on 
Development Sites (AS4970). 

(b) The report must provide the following details: 

(i) Provide an assessment detailed in a tree schedule / table for each 
tree surveyed that includes: 

a. the common and full botanical name 

b. the age class 

c. the (estimated) height 

d. the trunk diameter measured at 1.4 metres height 

e. the canopy spread to the four cardinal points 

f. a summary of the trees’ health, vigour and structural 
condition 

g. an estimation of the trees useful life expectancy using 
appropriate industry methods 

h. list / appendix of plans and documents used to inform report 

(ii) An assessment and discussion of the likely impacts the 
development will have on the trees to be retained. This should 
include above and below ground constraints on trees that should 
be retained. 

(iii) Any excavation beyond the existing footing, exploratory root 
investigation is required to determine the exact location of existing 
roots. This shall consist of an ‘air knife’ / soil vacuum / hand-
digging, gently removing the soil to expose the existing tree roots 
where construction is likely to impact on the tree/s or require root 
pruning to achieve the proposed development design. An 
assessment of tree root size, number and condition must be 
provided (including photos). No roots over 40mm will be permitted 
for removal. 

(iv) Recommendations of any design modifications to the wall, 
construction techniques and/or other protection methods required 
to minimise adverse impact on trees that should be retained during 
the demolition, excavation and construction works, and into the 
long term. Note: particular attention must be paid to the existing 
soil levels, required development levels to integrate to the existing 
building, and the required tree protection measures. 

39



(v) If any design modifications are recommended for the demolition, 
excavation or construction of the wall (including its footings), 
updated plans, elevations and/or sections are to be provided 
reflecting the Arborist’s advice. 

(vi) Any excavation within the TPZ must be undertaken using non-
destructive methods (such as by hand). All new footings within the 
TPZ of trees to be retained shall be relocated / realigned if any tree 
root greater than 40mm in diameter. A minimum of 150mm 
clearance shall be provided between the tree root and footing. 

(vii) Details of the tree protection measures in accordance with 
AS4970-2009 Protection of trees on development site. 

(viii) Provide a scaled Tree Protection Plan of 1:100 / 1:200, showing 
the tree protection zones, structural root zones, canopy and 
incursion within these zones of existing trees. 

(ix) Details of pruning must be provided (including marked up 
photos/tree roots). Only minor pruning with a maximum of 5% 
canopy removal and maximum of 50mm diameter branches / 
40mm diameter roots will be permitted by Council. All proposed 
pruning works must be specified in accordance with Australian 
Standard 4373–2007, Pruning of Amenity Trees. 

Note: reports which include photos with a single vertical line as the 
area recommended for pruning will not be accepted. 

(x) Information on the Arborist’s involvement during the works is also 
required. 

(xi) Any other works that must be prohibited throughout construction 
and development on site. 

(xii) Refer to Council’s (weblink below) ‘Tree Guidelines for Pruning, 
Reporting and Using an Arborist’ for guidance on information that 
must be provided in an Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report, 
including tree pruning specification and exploratory root 
investigation; https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/property-tree-
maintenance/apply-prune-remove-tree  

Reason 

To ensure any future detailed design DA is accompanied by adequate 
information relating to trees. 

(32) FLOOD PLANNING LEVELS 

Details must be submitted with any subsequent detailed design DA to 
demonstrate compliance with the recommended flood planning levels 
indicated in the report titled "Concept and Planning Proposal Flood 
Assessment and Storm Water Management Report" prepared by TTW 
Consulting dated 22 June 2023. 

  

40

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/property-tree-maintenance/apply-prune-remove-tree
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/property-tree-maintenance/apply-prune-remove-tree


Reason 

To ensure the detailed design of the building addresses flood risk. 

(33) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

Any future detailed design DA must demonstrate access and facilities are 
provided for people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia.  

Reason  

To ensure the detailed design of the building provides access for people of all 
abilities. 

(34) ADAPTABLE HOUSING 

Any subsequent detailed design DA is to provide the required number of 
residential units that are able to be adapted for people with a disability in 
accordance with provision 3.12.2 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012, the Building Code of Australia and Australian Standard AS4299.  

Reason  

To ensure the detailed design of the building provides apartments that can be 
easily adapted for people with a disability. 

(35) SIGNAGE STRATEGY 

A detailed signage strategy must be submitted with any subsequent detailed 
design DA or a condition of consent requiring the submission of a 
detailed signage strategy is to be imposed on any consent for a 
subsequent detailed design development application which involves 
non-residential development. The signage strategy must include information 
and scale drawings of the location, type, construction, materials and total 
number of signs appropriate for the building.  

Reason  

To require signage to be considered as part of any subsequent detailed 
building design. 

(36) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO COMPETITIVE 
DESIGN PROCESS 

(a) Prior to the commencement of any competitive design process, an 
accurate 1:1 electronic CAD model of the envelope approved by this 
consent must be submitted to and approved by Council’s City Model 
Unit.  

(b) The data required to be submitted within the surveyed location must 
include and identify:  

(i) envelope design above in accordance with the development 
consent;  

41



(ii) a current two points on the site boundary clearly marked to show 
their Northing and Easting MGA (Map Grid of Australia) 
coordinates, which must be based on Established Marks 
registered in the Department of Lands and Property Information’s 
SCIMS Database with a Horizontal Position Equal to or better than 
Class C.  

(c) The data is to be submitted as a DGN or DWG file on a Compact Disc. 
All modelling is to be referenced to the Map Grid of Australia (MGA) 
spatially located in the Initial Data Extraction file.  

(d) The electronic model must be constructed in accordance with the City’s 
3D CAD electronic model specification. The specification is available 
online at http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements  

(e) Council’s Modelling staff should be consulted prior to creation of the 
model. The data is to comply with all the conditions of the Development 
Consent. 

(37) NEW ROAD DESIGN  

Preparation of the detailed design and construction documentation for the 
proposed public road system must include all necessary liaison with, and 
requirements of, all relevant public utility authorities, Transport for NSW, the 
City of Sydney, the Local Pedestrian Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee 
and its nominated consultants in order to achieve design approvals and 
construction compliance. 

A design package must be prepared based on the requirements outlined in 
Council’s Public Domain Manual. A design report for the road works must be 
prepared by an appropriately qualified civil engineer certifying that the design 
complies with the City of Sydney’s policies, Austroads and specifications and 
those of all other relevant authorities as applicable. All engineering plans and 
calculations must be checked, signed and certified by a suitably qualified 
practicing professional engineer and included in the report. The design 
package and report must be submitted with any subsequent detailed design 
DA for building construction. 

Reason 

To ensure the new road design complies with Council’s policies, standards and 
specifications and those of all other relevant authorities. 

42

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements


PART B – BEFORE THE ISSUE OF A CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE 

There are no conditions relevant to Part B.   

43



PART C – BEFORE THE COMMENCEMENT OF BUILDING WORK 

There are no conditions relevant to Part C.   

44



PART D – WHILE BUILDING WORK IS BEING CARRIED OUT 

There are no conditions relevant to Part D.   

45



PART E – BEFORE THE ISSUE OF AN OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE 

There are no conditions relevant to Part E.   

46



PART F – OCCUPATION AND ONGOING USE 

There are no conditions relevant to Part F.   

47



SCHEDULE 2  

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021 apply: 

Clause 69 Compliance with National Construction Code (previously known as Building 
Code of Australia) and insurance requirements under the Home Building 
Act 1989 

Clause 70 Erection of signs 

Clause 71 Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 72 Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 73 Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 74 Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 2 conditions 
of development consent of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021. 
This can be accessed at: http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

 

48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59




	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Matters Arising from the Minutes
	4 Modification Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2023/724/A
	4 Modification Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2023/724/A
	Attachment A - Recommended Modified Conditions of Consent

	4 Modification Application: 905 South Dowling Street, Zetland - D/2023/724/A
	Attachment B - Approved Concept Plan Drawings


